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PARMA,

PIONEER WOMEN OF PARMA,
CUYAHOGA COUNTY.

1818—1860.

Parma is one of the youngest town-
ships in Cuyahoga County. In conse-
quence of a prevailing impression that it
was a swampy and undesirgble region,
the early settlers of the County avoided
this section. The center of the town-

ship lies about :i%lht miles south of the

lic Square in Cleveland. The town-
ship is bounded mnorth Brooklyn,
east by Independence, south by Royal-
ton and west by Middleburg, It is an
agricultural community and contains no
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age. Fully three-fourths of the pop-
tion now are Germans.
"he flrat settlement in the township
made in 1818, by Benajah Fay, 5r.,
pative of Massachusetts, He came
Lewis County, N. ¥., with his
. Ruth Wilcox, his daughters
nda, Harriet, Huldah, Sophia and
v, and fve sons, anghter,
Fay, was born to them in
She was the first white child born
arma.
Mr, Fay and family came by ox
from their home in MNew York.
m South Brooklyn they had to cut
ad through the woods in order to
ach their farm. In 1819 Mr. Fay
pened a tavern in a doublc log house,
own as “'B. Fay's Inn." This was a
- nioted landmark for many years.
- Conrad Countryman, a

MOHAWEK DUTCHMAN,

hg@ump.nmcd by his wife and three sons,
m]: men, réached Parma about the
r. Fay did. They took up the
farm afterwards owned by Moses Towl
In 1821 Mr. Countryman erected on the
banks of the Stony Creek, the first saw
mill built in the townshi In this mill,
2 few years later, his hr.tﬁ: grand-daugh-
-ﬁ:_'. Lucy Cnuntryman was accidently
: ‘Countryman also built the
hlack—smlth shop in the townshi
chekmh Clark and his wife, and Cap-
fﬁin Stonebrunner settled on farms near
Conrad Countryman’s, in 1818, but they
soon moved to Cleveland.
Pelatiah Bliss, an enterprising young
m carrying his pack on his back,
on foot from his home in Con-
ﬁmicut secking his fortune. He ar-
ed in Parma in 1BI8, and was so
1 sed with the location that he built
Brt:lf a cabin near Mr. Country-
's, and at once bng'nn clearing a
He had left behind him, in Wind-
sor, Connecticut, a bright eyed, intelli-
Eent young woman, who ha.ddprumme
fﬁ]ﬂ*in him when he had found a home,
B20 he returned and Lucina Grant
Jumme Mrs. Bliss, The wedding jour-
¥ was taken in 1821, in a wagon that
fﬂﬂtht Mr. Foot and family to Brook-
n, and the couple were soon settled in
their Parma home. A daughter, Nan
ne to gladden their home in 1
Mrs. Prootor Pearse, nf
ale, Michigan.
two h

1]

™

y and intelligent

young men, Asher Norton and Benja-
min Norton, came from Rutland, Ver-
mont, and took up adjoining farms on
the Independence line road. ith As-
her Norton came his wife, Ruth Harris,
and their daughters Mary C., Azuba A.,
Saophia and Emily R. "Benjamin Nor-
ton was accompanied by his wife, Bet-
sey Miner, his daughters Phebe, Jane,
Permelia, and two sons. For four years
these families were alone in that quarter
of the township. Then a brother-in-
law, Rufus Scoville, together with his
wife, Roxy Norton and daughter Clara
joined them. Mrs. Scoville had four
SOMS.

The children of these families were
obliged to attend school in Brecks-
ville, as dntil 1832 there was no school in
that part of Parma. In 1B26 Nehemiah
Toms and wife Sally Miner, a sister of
Mrs. Benjaomin Norton, joined the east
Parma settlement.

There were no further additions to
this colony until 1831, when Bela Norton
and wife ﬁliza Hopkins, their daughter
Marcia came, also

cel Norton and wife
Annie Daniels,

with their daughters
Roxy, Mary, Fanny, Betsey and
Clarissa. Thus it will be seen that to
the State of Vermont, and to the Nortoh
family, belongs the honor of having
settled the Eastern part of the township.
How isolated and lonely muast have been
the condition of these mothers and
daughters, coming as they did from the
intelligence and advantages of their New
England homes!

In October, 1821, the little company
of pioneers in the Wiestern part, or
what was afterwards known as the Cleve-
land and Columbus road, was increased
by the arrival of five families. They
were those of Asa Emerson, Amos

Hodgman, Joseph Small, William Steel
and Jesse MNicholas; Mrs, Sally Small
Emerson and Mrs. Thankful Small
Hodgman were cousins of Joseph

Small. Mrs. Steel was a niece of th
and Mr. Nicholas was a relative of al
They had been neighbors in the town
of Howdoine, Maine. Together they
h:u:l curn ed with ox teams and horses
k g, West Virginia. Afler
spendmg a. vear there, and another year
near Cincinnati, their "hearts had turned

ith
IRRESISTIBLE LONGING.

to the old home in Maine. They
started on the return journey.
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On reaching Parma, however, they

concluded to locate there. Log houses
were soon erected and preparations
made for the approaching winter. What

tongue can tell of the hardships and in-
convenience suffered by these women on
this long journey irom Madine to Ohiol

Much of the time, especially over the
mountains, the women and children had
to go on foot.
Emerson, suffered all through life from
having one shoulder higher than the
other. This was supposed to have been
caused by her having been led so much
by an older person on this journey.
One morning as the caravan was about
to move, it was found that the baby in
the Emerson family was missing. At
last he was found, nearly smothered un-
der a feather bed, which had been acci-
dently thrown over him. That boy s
now Mr. Taylor Emerson, of Cleveland,
the only survivor of the Emerson family.

Lucina B. Emerson was the second
white child born in the township, March,
1822. Dr. Henry Hudson, of Royalton,
was called to attend Mrs. Emerson at
this time. Dr. Hudson was not only a
physician, but an ordained Baptist min-
ister. He was called on Saturday to at-
tend Mrs, Emerson,

Early the next morning word was
sent around for all the settlers to gather
at the log cabin of Mrs. Hodgman, and
there, on that spring morning, March
3rd, 1822, the first sermon preached in
Parma was delivered by Rev. Henry
Hudson.

In May of that same year oeccurred
the first death in the township. Isaac
Emerson, a young man, 17 years of age,
was called from ‘earthly scenes.
grave was made for him on the banks
of Stony Creek, near the home of Mr.
Countryman. In September, Mr. Wil-
liam Steel was called away from the hard-

ships of a pioneer life, and his child |
like |

soon followed him. Mrs. Steel,
Naomi of old, being thus left a widow
and childless, soon returned on foot
and alone to her old home in Maine,

Abner S. Beals and his wife, Jane
Shepherd, came from Geneva, N. Y., to
Royalton, Ohio, in January, 1821. In

the spring of 1825 they removed to Par-
ma. Mr. Beals was the first settler on
the State road in Parma. He first lo-
cated in the northern part of the town-
ship. The children attended school in
Brighton, and walked to Sabbath

One of the girls, Sally |

I school, at Brooklyn Center, a distance
of 3% miles. There were many wild
animals and rattlesnakes in the town-
ship then. One morning Mr. Beals
went out to shoot a partridge and his
little son accompanied him; suddenly
Mr. Beals heard the boy, who was a
| short distance from him call out

| “"DADDY! SEE THE BIG HOG!"

He turned to see a large bear on a direct
line between him and his boy. The fath-
er's hand trembled so that he dared not
fire until the bear had passed the range
of the boy. He tracked the bear some
distance by the blood from his wound,
but lost him amid the rocks of the
| neighboring brook. At one time, Mrs,
Beals' little daughﬁcr. Julia, was going
with her sister Eliza, to a spring after
water. Her kitten followed them and
Julia tried to fasten it in a hollow log
till she returned. The kitten refused to
enter the log and Julia stooped to
learn the reason. There she saw a great
rattlesnake coiled ready to strike.

To this daughter, Julin who married
Robert Hodgman, and has spent T1 i
the 73 years of her life in Parma, has
fallen the pleasant task of directing the
preparation of these pioneer records.

rs. Small was a noted housekeeper.
Everything about her log house was
as “neat as wax.” The first wedding in
the township occurred at her house,
| when her daughter Lois was married to
Ephraim Fowles, of Middleburgh.
‘ r. Samuel Freeman and Mrs. Sarah
|

Belknap Freeman, with their seven
daughters and five sons came from Stor-
bridge, Massathusetts, to seek a home in
the West. They came via Erie Canal
and Lake Erie, and after a journey of
20 days, reached “B. Fay's Inn”, Sat-
urday night, May 26th, 1825,

Mr. Fay had an unnl:cl.llnpied barn, and
on Monday morning the Freeman family
took possession of it. A fireplace was
built at one side of the empty mow.
The mother and daughters turned the
stable into a sleeping apartment. The
father and sons took possession of the
loft, and the barn floor served as a din-
ing room. Here the family lived for
Eﬂﬂf days, until a house had been erect-
ed for them on the farm that has ever
since been known as "the Freeman
place.” Mr. Freeman was a man of
education and culture. No family did
more toward building up the religious
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nd educational interests of the com-
unity. The first school in Parma was
aught bi:l Mr. Freeman in his own
HOUSE e was the first postmaster of
he township, and held many offices of
in church and township. Mrs.
sman was a fitting wife for such a
sband. Nearly all her daughters and
became teachers in  the public
als, and earnest workers in the
. Selenda Freeman married Reu-
Emerson and is still living, in
eland, Minnesota. Lois Freeman
e Mrs. Asa Emerson and wyet
“amid the scenes of her girlhood in

omas Adams and wife settled across
road from where Mrs. Fanny Inger-
now resides. He was a blacksmith.
s brother, David Adams and wile,
sulah Prince, purchased a part of what
ward became the John A, Ackle
. These brothers came from Sou
herst, Mass, in 1825,
. There was a lull in the scttlement of
e township from 1825 to 1830, In the
ring of 1829, Daniel Nicholas and wife,
Sibyl, with their daugheer, Betsey.and
ons, Charles and Joseph, came from
widoine, Maine, illiam Gordon
ed on the center road near the Roy-
on line in 1820, He was the first
ller an the Center road. His wife,
ah Shepherd, came to Royalton from
ne . Y., in 1821, Mrs Gordon
‘was of a happy, cheerful disposition, well
fitted to find comiort in the midst of the
ha of a new country.
~ In December, 1829, according to the
ort of the school enamerator, there
but 24 house holders in the town-
During the years 1831—1834 in-
Parma was rapidly settled. The
the farms were taken up during
2 vears. Many of these settlers
from the State of New York, In-
, Bne road was named

“¥YORK STREET,)”

se of this.
1832, John J. Bigelow. of Richfield,
® the brick for B. Fay's new inn.
Bigelow was so pleased with the
4 on the Center road, that when his
was completed. he purchased
cres, paying for it the sum of £500.
e spring of 1833 he came with his
hila Humphrey, and took posses-
& little house which had been
td by a man who had “slashed" five

:

v

acres of land for Mr. Bigelow. Phila
Humphta was born and reared in
Goshen, Connecticut. From the “land of
steady habits” and refinement, she came
to Richfield, and thence to her Parma
home. There was no Aoor in that home.
The fire-place consisted of a fatstone for
a hearth and another stone for a back.
From these a chimney was built of
sticks and plastered with clay,

In anticipation of the arrival of a sister
from Connecticut, Mrs. Bigelow fitted
up a room. It was a shed built against
the log house. It could be reuhetfﬂ only
from the outside, as there was no door'
between the two rooms. This room
Mrs. Bigelow floored with “culls” or
staves that had been rejected as unfit
for market. In this room, Fanny Hum-
phrey, afterwards Mrs. Cyrus Ingersoll,
:I;;_ent her first night in Parma. Yet

is home was the beginning of a beauti-
ful home in which were reared two re-
fined and cultured daughters, both of
whom were suceessiul school teachers.
They were Celia, now Mrs, George Dem-
ing, of Cleveland, and Ellen, afterward
Mrs. Dr. Daniels, of Townsend, Ohio,
now « ;

Mrs. James Brown, Sr., nee Silence
Pettee, was born in Claremont, Massa-
chusetts, 1782, Her father was a com-
missioned officer in the Revolutionary
Army. He was, I think, of Huguenot
extraction. and his daughter inherited a
hrge portion of the sturdy independence
and force of character which htted her
for pioneer life. She came to Parma in
1 with her husband and four chil-
dren.

Here a1 house, containing one
room, was built, and here she spent
most of the remaining years of her life.
She was an expert spinner and weaver.
People came from Royalton, Brooklyn,
and Middleburgh, bringing material for
“tow and linen” cloth, to be used for
table cloths, towels, bed ticks and ap-
rons: wool for sheets, underclothing,
dresses for women and girls, and

SATINET

for the men and boys.

The coloring was done with the bark
from the oak. hickory, chestnut, maple
and butternut. _Sometimes the wool
}rnm blal;:}t shﬂcpk_wll mixed with that
rom white, making “sheeps’ -
which was durable ﬁ not hlﬁdﬁg

She was paid 634 cents per yard for
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weaving plain cloth, and 10c. per yard
for “kersey"” and “satinet”. In the
midst of the labor necessary to the mak-
ing a home in the wilderness, she found
time to cultivate flowers. A sunny sgnt
was set apart for tﬂ:ppips. great golden
crowned marigol spicy grass pinks,
hollvhocks,

WHERE BUMBLE BEES
REVELED,

and powdered themselves with yellow

llen, and one queenly damask rose.

own in a far corner was the chamo-
mile bed, whose aromatic blossoms made
into a piilow. were supposed to be a sov-
ereign balm for insomnia, and many
other ills. There, too, grew dill and
horehound, wormwood, mint and anise.

Mrs Brown was a woman of stron
convictions, and they were im
upon the character of her sons. She
was one of the earliest temperance
workers, also a staunch anti-slavery
woman. Her husband and son, James,
were among the six who voted the first
abolition ticket in Parma.

Mr. and Mrs. Brown were members
of the Baptist church in Royalton, and
used to walk to service, a distance of five
miles, when they could not take the ox

team,

Eunice Olds and her husband, Sam-
uel Robb, were the first settlers on the
State road, between the Royalton line
and the estnut Hills. ¥ came
from Webster, N. ¥. In three days
from the time the Arst tree was cut, a
log house had been built, and the family
had moved into it.

Openings were left for door and win-
dows, and over these blankets were
huﬂfﬁl Only one hall of the house was
roofed at the time. About them was the
unbroken forest. Wild deer came and

in wonder at the inmates of the
lonely dwelling. Wolves and bears were
sometimes seen near it

The solitude of the forest was seldom
broken by the presence of their fellow
beings. ey rarely heard from their
old home, for there were few facilities
for conveying mail, and when they re-
ceived a letter they had to pay 25 cents

on it,

With Mrs, Robb came her mother,
Mrs. Olds, and her daughter, Lavina
Robb, who married Alonzo Cartwright,
and still resides in Parma. These pio-

neer mothers were not long without the
companionship of other women. Be-
fore the year 1881 had ended, five other
families had settled on the State road.

From N. Y. came Mr. and Mrs. Fisk
with their daughters, Almeda, Azelia,
Lydia and Amanda. With them eame
George Boyer and wife, Harriet Fisk.

From Duchess County, N. Y. came
John Johnson and his wife, Mar
with their daughter, Mary Ann. avid
F. Jones and wife, Hannah Wear came
from N. J. They brought with them
three daughters, Mary Jane, Caroline
and Deborah, and their son-in-law, John
Cook his wife, Eliza Jones, and da.ugh~
ters, Debby Ann and Eliza Jane.

Mrs. Jones was the mother of five
sons. One of them, Carlos Jones,
was the founder of the

"JUN ES HOHE-."

for orphan children, These women.
cheerfully bore the hardships and incon-
veniencies of pioneer life. They lived
to see the unbroken forest changed to
cultivated farms, dotted with pleasant
homes. Their wurin{r apparel was en-
tirely home made. It was s and
woven from flax and wool by the moth-
ers and daughters of 1831, and cut and
made into garments by their own hands,
and that without the aid of fashion
plates. What a contrast in dress the
mothers and daughters of 1831 would
present beside the woman of 1898!

Miss Clementine Perry was born in
Clinton County, N. Y. She was en-
gaged to be married to Ithiel J. Lock-
wood. He believed that he could better
his condition by emigrating to the
West. He reached Parma, Oectober,
1830, and purchased a farm on the In-
dependence line road. A.hrm n:l;ld atlﬁl.l[
was spent in ring a home, en
he returned E)r ﬁls bride.

In the latter gart of January, 1832,
they started on “their long and weari-
some journey to their new home, in a
two horse sleigh, leading an extra
horse. They reached Parma in Febru-
ary. On this farm Mrs. Lockwood re-
sided till 1857, when she moved to
Cleveland. Three daughters and a son
were reared in the Parma home. Mrs,
Lockwood died in 1802,

Miss Louisa Saxton and Miss Alma
Prindle, of East Charlotte, Vermont,
married two _brothers, James Walling
and Ransom Walling. In the spring of
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832, soon after their marriage, the hus-
nds came to Parma to d homes
their wives. The young wives wait-
until fall and then came on to join
ir husbands. The log houses that
d been prepared to receive them
been built on the Royalton line, a
mile from any road. e only wa
to reach their homes was along a pa
marked by blazed trees.

. The men worked on their farms in
L e summer and at their trade as coopers
in the winter. Here for 18 years they
dwelt sideﬁy side.
- In 1850 Mrs. Ransom Walling's home
was traded for a farm in Royalton, at a
L .P'nint which has since been known as
{ ‘Walling’'s Corners.” Here Mrs. Wall-
ing resided for many years. After the
death of her husband she moved to
Cleveland, where she died in 1892.
Mits. Louisa Walling moved to Wis-
consin in 1852 and died there.

 Somewhere in New England, I think

in Vermont, Polly Hasting's life began.
er parents removed to Batavia, N. Y.,
where she married John Parrish. Here
three sons and four daughters were born
to them. In 1834 they came to Parma,
and settled on the Independence line,
in the neighborhood of the Nortons and
Lockwoods. Their's was a Christian
home. Mrs. Parrish reared her chil-
«ren in the fear of the Lord. Her sons
were faithful Christian men. Huagh L.
Parrish became a loved and honored
minister of the M, E. Church, and was
@t one time Presiding Elder,
Mrs. Polly Parrish was not permitted

to reap the fruit of her seed sowing.
From her Parma home, about 1845, she
was called to be forever with her Lord
4\ moss covered stone, in the little cem-
_etery on the Independence road, marks
‘her last resting place.

- No reminiscences of the pioneer wo-
~men of Parma would be complete that
did not speak of

“AUNT JANE KILBORN.”

Ehr. and her husband, Joseph Kilborn,

Uncle Joe as he was familiarly known,
Came to Parma in 1838, and settled on
the State road. Here they nt the re-
mainder of their days, Mrs, Kilborn
‘gﬂ-l of a bright and happy disposition.
_=he won the friendship of old and
 ¥Oung, because of the friendliness of her
TNature and kindliness of her disposi-

+ chant there.

tion. She reached the age of 84 years,
and yet she never grew old in heart.

‘Her maiden name was Jane Mach, her
birthplace, White Hall, N. Y., and she
was married at Penfield, N. Y., in 1827.
Her home in Parma became the favor-
ite resort of the young people, and she
retained her love for them to the end
of her life,

_Mrs. Kilborn was an earnest Chris-
tian. She was one of the original mem-
bers of the Free Will Baptist Church,
organized in the schoo! house in that
district, about 1834, Associated with
her in church work were a number of
faithful Christian women., Among them
were Mrs. Jane Beals, Mrs, Tgret
Johnson, Mrs. Lois Pond, Mrs. Chloe
Bunker, Mrs. Polly Ward and Mrs,
Maria Cleveland.

The minister in those early days re-
sided at a distance, and came Saturday
in time to attend the Saturday night
prayer meeting. He remained till Mon-
day and was entertained in the homes of
these women. Then, many who at-
tended church resided at a distance.
They were invited to the homes of these
women who feasted them with the
“meat which perisheth,” as cheerfully
and faithfully as the minister had brok-
en to them spiritual food.

Miss Mary Huntington DeWitte was
born in Norwich, Conn., in 1818. She
was reared amid the culture and refine-
ment of that eity. In 1832 she was mar-
ried to James M, Cogswell, then a mer-
The following year they
concluded to seek a home in the West,
and came to Parma. Although it had
been 15 years since the first settler had
built his log home in Parma, the coun-
try was vet comparatively new,

It seemed an uninviting and incon-
genial spot in which to build a home for
a cultured and refined young woman of
20. But such women were needed to
counteract the influences of an opposing
nature, always to be found in a new set-
tlement. It is beyond human power to
estimate the elevating and ennobling in-
fluence of Mrs. Mary Cogswell upon the
community.

The Parma Congregational church was
organized November 7, 1835 with a
membership- of 12 persons. The sis-
ters in the church were Mrs. Mary Cogs-
well, Mrs_Sarah Freeman Mrs. Susan
Chapin, Mrs. Harriet E. Cogswell. The
Misses Sarah B. Freeman, Selenda Free-
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man and Catherine Ferrell. Of -he ori-
inal members only Ofle, Mrs. - selenda
reeman Emerson, is now living. Mrs,
Mary Cogswell and Mrs. Harriet E.
Cogsweil both passed from the chureh
{gggtant to the Church triumphant, in

Mrs. Mary Cogswell was a woman of
carnest faith and fervent spirit. Upon
her and her husband devolved, for many
years, the duty of entertaining Bible ag-
ents, visiting ministers, and strangers
connected with church work., Cheer-
fully and hospitably was this performed.
She loved the Sunday school, and was a
earnest teacher there, until her advanced
years compelled her to resign her work.

She was guiet, retiring, and somewhat
reserved in manner. nly when “the
books” are opened on the great judg-
ment day can it be known what was
wrought by this earnest, consistent life.

Mrs. Harriet Denison Cogswell, wife
of Frederick F. Cogswell, and sister of
Amos E. Denison, came from Stoning-
ton, Conn., in 1834, They purchased a
farm of Jacob Countryman on York
atreet.

Mrs, Cogawell was a great collector of
natural coriosities and of Indian relics,
Her father was a sea captain and had
brought her strange things and

BEAUTIFUL SHELLS

from many parts of the world. She had
added to these until she had one of the
finest private collections to be found.
She delighted in exhibiting this collec-
tion to all who visited her. The many
strange things she had to show them,
and her motherly ways, won the hearts
of children. Her sympathetic ways and
conversational powers won a large circle
of friends whom she delighted to wel-
come at her home. It might be truly
said of her “She had not an enemy.”
Mrs. Lydia Palmer Whitney, whose
nephews, Dwight Palmer and Charles
Palmer, were sowellknown in Cleveland,
came to Parma in 1836. Her home was
over three miles from the Congrega-
tional church, But she and her husband
at once connected themselves with that
church and were rarely absent from its
services. Ill health prevented her from
taking as prominent and active a posi-
tion in society as she was gualified to fill.
But those who had the privilege of see-
ing her in her well ordered home, found
in her a warm hearted, helpful friend.

Her home contained more books than
were to be found in most families; these
were freely lent to her sick friends, and
helped to brighten many hours of pain,

Mrs. Sally Weaver Topping and her
husband William Topping came from
Bainbridge, N. Y. in 1834 In those
pioneer days school teachers “boarded
around,” but had one place called home
to which they could always go when
necessary. Mrs. Topping's mission was
to make a home for the teacher, and well
did she lperform this mission, as many a
weary, homesick teacher eould testify.
Her daughter, Harriet Topping Hitch-
cock, to whom we arc indebted for many
helpful hints, now resides in Grinnel
Lowa.

Mrs. Moses Oviatt (Electa Spafford)
was a granddaughter of Thomas Chit-
tendon, the first governor of Vermont,
her mother being Electa Chittendon,
who, with her husband, Jacab Spafford,,
settled in Richfield, O,, 1BIS, ere the
daughter, Electa, was born. She mar-
ried and moved to Parma, 1840, and for
nearly a half century the Owviatt home-
stead was noted for its liberal hospital-
ity. Mrs. Oviatt was one of the most
amiable of women. and her whole life
was characterized by kindly words and
ministrations. Her four children, Mar-
tin, Herbert, Sarah and Martha, are all
residents of Cleveland, and her grand-
daughter, Mrs. C. M. Oviatt, is well
known in the literary circles of that city.

Mrs. Barzilla Snow (Polly Grinnell)
was a mnative of Massachusetts, nepr
Boston. After her marria she lived
for a number of vears in "New Haven,
N. Y., and in 1833 emigrated with her
husband to Parma, where she died 1B55,
in about the seventieth year of her age.

Mrs. Snow possessed unusuf] gifts of
mind and heart. She was a devoted
mother, a kind neighbor and true friend.
She reared a family of eight sons and
three daughters, who, one and all, ever
dearly loved, and deeply cherished the
memory of their noble mother. To the
latest hour of her life she was a great
reader, and could readily converse on
the leading topics of the day.

But two of her children are now liv-
ing, Leander, a resident of Parma, and
Vira Ann, Mrs. Lyman Moughton, who
lives near Leavenworth, Kas.

MRS. JULIA A. HODGMAN,
Historian.
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ma Committee—Lucy A. Wa-d, Nancy Bliss Pearse., Bloomin e,
t Martha Owiatt Howlett, Cleve- Mich.: Mrs. Harriet Topping itch-
: Jane Reynolds Brown, Elyria: cock, Sedgwick, Kan.
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Clark Hezekiah 617 Freeman Mrs. 619
Cleveland Mrs. Maria 621 Freeman Mr. Samuel 618
Cogswell Frederick F. 622 Freeman Mrs. Sarah 621
Cogswell James M. 621 Freeman Mrs. Sarah Belknap 618
Cogswell Mrs. 622 Freeman Sarah B. 621
Cogswell Mrs. Harriet E. 621,622 | |Freeman Selenda 619, 621
Cogswell Mrs. Harriet Denison 622 Gordon Mrs. 619
Cogswell Mrs. Mary 621,622 | |Gordon William 619
Cook Debby Ann 620 Grant Lucina 617
Cook Eliza Jane 620 Harris Ruth 617
Cook John 620 Hasting Polly 621
Countryman |Conrad 617 Hitchcock Harriet Topping 622
Countryman |Jacob 622 Hitchcock Mrs. Harriet Topping 623
Countryman |Lucy 617 Hodgman Amos 617
Countryman |Mr. 617,618 | [Hodgman Mrs. Julia A., Historian 622
Daniels Annie 617 Hodgman Mrs. Thankful Small 617,618
Daniels Mrs. Dr. 619 Hodgman Robert 618
Deming Mrs. George 619 Hopkins Eliza 617
Denison Amos E. 622 Howlett Martha Oviatt 623
DeWitte Miss Mary Huntington 621 Hudson Dr. & Rev. Henry 618
Emerson Asa 617 Humphrey [Fanny 619
Emerson Isaac 618 Humphrey |Phila 619




Pioneer Women of Parma Township
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Ingersoll Celia 619 Norton Permelia 617
Ingersoll Ellen 619 Norton Phebe 617
Ingersoll Mrs. Fanny 619 Norton Roxy 617
Ingersoll Mrs. Cyrus 619 Norton Sophia 617
Johnson John 620 Nortons 621
Johnson Margaret 620 Olds Eunice 620
Johnson Mary 620 Olds Mrs. 620
Johnson Mrs. Margaret 621 Oviatt Herbert 622
Jones Carlos 620 Oviatt Martha 622
Jones Caroline 620 Oviatt Martin 622
Jones David F. 620 Oviatt Mrs. C. M. 622
Jones Deborah 620 Oviatt Mrs. Moses (Electa Spafford) 622
Jones Eliza 620 Oviatt Sarah 622
Jones Mary Jane 620 Palmer Charles 622
Jones Mrs. 620 Palmer Dwight 622
Kilborn Aunt Jane 621 Parrish Hugh L. 621
Kilborn Joseph 621 Parrish John 621
Kilborn Mrs. 621 Parrish Mrs. 621
Kilborn Uncle Joe 621 Parrish Mrs. Polly 621
Lockwood [Ithiel J. 620 Pearse Mrs. Proctor (Nancy) 617
Lockwood  [Mrs. 620 Pearse Nancy Bliss 623
Lockwoods 621 Perry Miss Clementine 620
Mach Jane 621 Pettee Silence 619
Miner Betsey 617 Pond Mrs. Lois 621
Miner Sally 617 Prindle Miss Alma 620
Moughton  |Mrs. Lyman 622 Prince Beulah 619
Nicholas Betsey 619 Robb Lavina 620
Nicholas Charles 619 Robb Mrs. 620
Nicholas Daniel 619 Robb Samuel 620
Nicholas Jesse 617 Saxton Miss Louisa 620
Nicholas Joseph 619 Scoville Clara 617
Nicholas Mr. 617 Scoville Mrs. 617
Nicholas Sibyl 619 Scoville Rufus 617
Norton Asher 617 Shepherd Jane 618
Norton Azuba A. 617 Shepherd Sarah 619
Norton Bela 617 Small Joseph 617
Norton Benjamin 617 Small Lois 618
Norton Betsey 617 Small Mrs. 618
Norton Clarissa 617 Snow Leander 622
Norton Emily R. 617 Snow Mrs. Barzilla (Polly Grinnell) 622
Norton Fanny 617 Snow Vira Ann 622
Norton Jane 617 Spafford Jacob 622
Norton Joel 617 Steel Mrs. 617,618
Norton Marcia 617 Steel William 617, 618
Norton Mary 617 Stonebrunner |Captain 617
Norton Mary C. 617 Toms Nehemiah 617
Norton Mrs. Benjamin 617 Topping Mrs. 622
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Topping Mrs. Sally Weaver 622
Topping William 622
Towl Moses 617
Walling James 620
Walling Mrs. 621
Walling Mrs. Louisa 621
Walling Mrs. Ransom 621
Walling Ranson 620
Ward Lucy A. 623
Ward Mrs. Polly 621
Wear Hannah 620
Whitney Mrs. Lydia Palmer 622
Wilcox Ruth 617




